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PREFACE


Anzac Sons is an account of the Great War experiences of five brothers drawn from a collection of over 500 letters written to their families at home. The letters, penned by my grandfather and four of his brothers, were sent from the training grounds of Victoria, from Egypt, England and the battlefields of the Western Front — Pozieres, Bullecourt, Messines, Menin Road, Passchendaele, Villers-Bretonneux and the village battlegrounds of 1918. The narrative that runs through these letters not only provides an insight into the experiences and suffering of a family, but also into the tragic deaths of their friends and the impact of such events on the small Australian community they called home. The letters also reveal much about the young men themselves — their motivation for enlisting, their fears and their grief. The story of their family and the way its members coped with the tragedy that ultimately consumed their lives forms a strong undercurrent to this narrative and reflects the experiences of families the length and breadth of the nation.


In their original form, some of the letters are crumbling, torn and stained. Most are written in pencil, now faded with the impact of time. The transcriptions in this book are as accurate as possible and each letter is presented as it was written. Occasionally the sentiments expressed have not stood the test of time and may even be offensive to some readers. If this is the case I apologise. These letters should be read in the context in which they were written — as personal letters addressed to loved ones almost 100 years ago in what was a different age, entirely removed from the sensitivities of the modern age. I have preserved all emphases from the original letters, including any underlining, as these illustrate the emotions at the heart of these words. Occasionally I have included an interpretation and these interjections will be indicated as such, employing the usual practice of enclosing them in square brackets [interjection].


I am responsible for any errors of fact in this volume. My thoughts and reflections on what happened to my ancestors have been refined and developed by my research, by careful reading of their letters, discussion with family members, my own recollections and memories and the experience of days spent traversing the battlefields of the Western Front. On many occasions I express an opinion which I only wish could be clarified by those involved.


A FEW TECHNICALITIES:


Allan Marlow enlisted with his Christian name spelt Allan. Inexplicably he later changed the spelling to Allen. To avoid confusion I have chosen the earlier spelling of Allan.


In my narrative I have adopted the metric system of measurement rather than the imperial. The letters contain imperial measurements as used at the time:


1 mile = 1.6 kilometres


1 yard = 0.91 metres


1 chain = 20.1 metres


The Australian currency system was based on the old British system of 12 pence to a shilling and 20 shillings to a pound:


1 pence (penny) written as 1d


12 pence = 1 shilling (or a bob) written as 1s or 1/-


20 shillings = 1 pound written as £1


Australian soldiers were paid six shillings a day, more than the average worker, and were the highest paid regular soldiers in World War I. Early in the war the Australian recruits were often referred to as ‘six bob a day tourists’ by critics who believed that the Australians would not see any action. The soldiers later adopted this term for their own use in a piece of bitter irony. Nonetheless, many troops made the most of their opportunities to see the sights of North Africa and Europe. If a soldier had dependants he was required to allocate at least two shillings to his family. One shilling was deferred for payment on discharge.


When Australia adopted the decimal currency in 1966, one pound was exchanged for two dollars, with one shilling valued at ten cents. As a comparative guide to values, to post a letter or buy a loaf of bread cost approximately 1½d in 1916. In a letter dated July 1917, Charlie complains that a peach in France costs 10d, almost the value of six loaves of bread and the approximate cost of a dozen eggs in Australia at the time.


AUSTRALIAN MILITARY STRUCTURE


In 1916, I Anzac Corps consisted of the 1st, 2nd and NZ divisions under British General William Birdwood, who also commanded all Australian forces. II Anzac Corps comprised the recently formed 4th and 5th divisions under British Lieutenant General Alexander Godley. In July 1916, when II Anzac arrived on the Western Front, followed later by the 3rd Division, the formation was reorganised. I Anzac Corps then comprised the 1st, 2nd and 4th divisions and II Anzac the 3rd, 5th and New Zealand divisions. Generally, each division was commanded by a major general and comprised three infantry brigades, three artillery brigades, a headquarters and field engineers. A brigade, commanded by a brigadier or brigadier general, was then divided into battalions of between 800 and 1000 men. A battalion, under the command of a lieutenant colonel or colonel, was divided into four companies. Each company was commanded by a captain and comprised four infantry platoons. A platoon was commanded by a lieutenant and divided into four sections commanded by a corporal.
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PROLOGUE…
THE BEGINNING


THE WESTERN FRONT


BELGIUM


18.7.17


Dear Mrs Marlow


It is with the greatest regret that I write because it is to offer our deep sympathy in the sad loss of your son. It seems so hard when you have four sons at the front & your anxiety cannot be realized by us who are in it. Your son was in a dugout which was hit direct by a big shell & it killed and buried five men. We have been subjected to severe bombardment during the past week and I am sorry to say yesterday one shell snatched from us two officers, two sergeants & your boy who were taking refuge from flying fragments of shell. It is the most awful calamity which has befallen us since we came to France. Accept the sympathy of us all in this your sad bereavement. What else can we offer? We also express our determination to go on & revenge the death of our mates & your son which this war has so cruelly taken from you. He was a good brave lad & is sadly missed by all who knew him. Your other boys are feeling the loss but taking it bravely.


I beg to remain


Yours Respectfully


RW Gollan Lieut


FRANCE


Nine months later:


27-4-1918


My Dear Jim,


Well dear Jim it breaks my heart to write this letter. Our dear [brother] was killed yesterday morning at 5.30. The bullet killed him instantly and he never spoke a word. I had just left him and gone down the trench to see the other lads when I was called back. Oh Jim it is awful. He is buried in a nice cemetery a good way behind the line. I attended the burial with a lot more … Oh I do hope he is the last. What awful lot of trouble we have had in a few months. Jim I do hope you all bear it the best you can. It has broke me up properly … Tell dear mum & dad to try and bear up as well as they can …


Jim Marlow had six brothers, one died in infancy, the other five served on the bloody battlefields of the Western Front. This is the story of a family torn apart by the tragedy of the Great War.


MOLOGA, VICTORIA THE 1970S


It was an era when most young schoolchildren like me had little concept of war. Life was relatively simple and secure in a world far from strife and trauma. The Great War, World War II and Korea were now historical events. Vietnam, to many children whose brothers had not been called up to serve, was a place discussed by adults, or a name mentioned in black and white television news reports from which they were bustled away. It was a negative place not suitable for the ears of children. Iraq and Afghanistan were yet to come.


It was also a time when a generation of small farmers left their land and their homes to their younger descendants. As their twilight years approached, these ageing men and women, many the survivors of two world wars and the Great Depression, farewelled their homes and a lifetime of memories for the security and services offered by local towns.


My great-uncle Jim Marlow was a bachelor. The eldest son of Charles and Sarah Marlow, he had lived on his farm, just north of Mologa, all his life. Jim’s parents had bought the land in 1892. In 1881, his father, Charles Marlow, had left his home in the tiny village of Drayton in Leicestershire, England, at 24 years of age and had sailed to distant Australia aboard the SS Cuscoe. His motives were unclear, and we can only surmise that Charles sought a better life than that which an industrialised England could offer the son of a country carpenter. He disembarked at Port Phillip Bay, travelled north by train to Inglewood, caught a Cobb & Co. coach to the hamlet of Durham Ox and then walked the remaining distance — some 20 kilometres — to the fledgling township of Pyramid Hill. As he trekked across the flat, scrubby plain, he must have wondered at the stark contrast his adoptive land presented to the rolling green hills and closely settled villages of his native Leicestershire.
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Charles Marlow, date unknown.
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Sarah Marlow circa 1918.


With land opening up for selection, Charles quickly found work as a surveyor’s assistant on land and rail surveys between Pyramid Hill and Kerang. In 1888 he married Sarah Mahoney, born near Castlemaine in 1862. For a few years they lived west of Pyramid Hill, just a few kilometres from the farm where I spent my childhood. In 1892 Charles purchased the original selection of Mr William Brown and here the couple established their farm, north of Mologa township, fronting Bullock Creek, with the Terrick Terrick Forest Reserve on the high ground to the east overlooking their land.
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Map 1: Mologa and surrounding district


When the Laanecoorie Weir burst its wall in 1909 and sent a torrent of water flooding across the central Victorian plains, it washed away many of the early mud and straw homes — ‘Egyptian brick’ buildings as they were commonly called. The residents of the young and vibrant railway township of Mologa, adjacent to Bullock Creek, had no warning on that sunny Saturday morning of 21 August when the devastating wall of water engulfed them.


When the floodwaters receded, little remained of the home built by the original selector and in which Sarah Marlow had raised her children. The family stoically began again, this time building a new timber home, wisely perched on stumps, of which they were justifiably proud and which endowed them with a renewed sense of optimism for the future. With six sons —the seventh, Frederick, died in 1895 at the age of four months, the same year that Sarah gave birth to twins — the family’s new dwelling must have been alive with the noise and raucous good humour of adolescents soon to be renowned for their practical jokes, strong community spirit and warm, endearing personalities.
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Sarah Marlow and her youngest son, Albert, at their new home circa 1912.


The eldest son, Jim, was destined to inherit the farm, and he worked the land with his father. Jim’s younger brother, Charlie, was employed as a carpenter with a local builder. During harvest season he assisted his uncle, George Mahoney, on his property at nearby Fernihurst. The third brother was George Tennyson, affectionately known as ‘Geordie’ or ‘Ten’, who also worked on the family farm. The twins Percy and Allan were making their own way: Allan was employed at McKay’s General Store at Pyramid Hill, while Percy helped his maternal aunt and uncle on their farm at nearby Hayanmi. In 1914, when the dark years of war descended, the youngest son, Albert, was almost 16 and labouring on the family farm at Mologa.


No-one could have predicted what 1914 would bring. It was certainly not the life that Charles and Sarah had envisaged as they toiled to deliver their sons a legacy greater than that which Charles had been destined to inherit in the depressive class structure of Victorian England. The ensuing years plunged the family into the darkness of despair which cast its shadow over millions of families across the world. When the darkness lifted, the grief remained, a generational legacy that could never be erased. It was left to the survivors to rebuild the dream.


Just a few kilometres up the railway line from Mologa towards the little town of Mitiamo was yet another family farm. This was the small holding where my father spent his childhood. This property was owned by my grandfather who had purchased the land in the early 1920s and began to build a home for his new wife. He toiled laboriously, fashioning handmade mud bricks which were to form the walls that would enclose his family in safety and comfort. Above the front door, written in coloured glass, was the name given to his labour of love: ‘Passchendaele’. As a young child, I didn’t look up. I didn’t notice. I didn’t ask why. Forty years later, I wish I had. Such is the regret that comes with the hindsight of decades.


My father took over the running of the original Marlow property from his Uncle Jim in 1971. Dad later bought the property for cropping, while continuing to produce sheep and cattle some 30 kilometres away, west of Pyramid Hill, at my mother’s family farm, the property which was our home.


My great-uncle Jim packed his bags and shut the door on the family home that his younger brother Charlie had helped his parents to build. In doing so he left behind more than memories. Already in a state of disrepair, the house was frozen in a moment in time, a poignant reminder of a period when small rural townships thrived, community spirit abounded and allegiance to the mother country was unreserved and unquestioned. Furniture, clothing, crockery and ornaments, even the food in the pantry — all were abandoned.


It is at this time that my memories of the home begin; they are few, but those I have are clear. Ink pens and bottles, a bullet-shaped letter opener, writing paper and glasses adorned the dining table; mirrored wardrobes with beady-eyed fox furs hanging lifeless, their gaze accusingly following any intruders; iron beds with grey-striped mattresses, torn by the family of possums that had made the old house their home and covered with the droppings of swallows that flitted about through broken windows. Old trunks and cupboards crammed with books, photos, cards and letters — hundreds of them. ‘Most from your Grandpa and his brothers,’ my father told us, ‘from the war.’ So many yellowed, torn envelopes, kept for so long. It meant little at the time.


My most vivid recollection is of rooms which I eventually refused to enter. Like most young children my imagination knew no bounds. I was convinced there were ghosts. There was a sense of emptiness and sadness that engulfed this old home, the warmth of its early years was long gone, replaced by the chill of lonely abandonment and the heaviness of saddened souls. Looking back, I wonder whether perhaps there was more to my imagination than I realised.


It is within the walls of this home that this story begins. Over 500 letters and postcards along with mementos and photos of the Great War were uncovered in an old wardrobe, cupboards and trunks that Jim had left behind. These precious treasures were once close to being destroyed. Opportunistic thieves, scavenging antique furniture from abandoned homes across central Victoria, were remarkably thwarted by a matter of minutes in their attempt to burn the timber home to cover all trace of their activities. My father arrived late one afternoon to the lingering smell of cigarette smoke and old newspapers piled high in the centre of the living room clearly ready to ignite. The thieves escaped. Was this the hand of fate at play or the intervention of the ghosts of a young girl’s imagination?


These precious memoirs are now safely stored, the catalyst of a lifelong dream to honour forebears who today can tell their story in their own words. This is the story of a family with six sons who survived the rigours of childhood illnesses at a time of high juvenile mortality and the dangers of life on the farm when accidents were commonplace. This was a family in which five sons took up arms and ventured willingly into the horrific conflagration that we now know as the Great War of 1914–1918.
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James (Jim) William Marlow, born 30 September 1889. The eldest son, he attempted to enlist but was rejected.
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Charles (Charlie) Edward Marlow, born 29 June 1891, was the fourth to enlist after twice being rejected. He joined the 38th Battalion.
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George (Geordie or Ten) Tennyson Marlow, born 8 October 1892, was the first to enlist. He joined the 7th Battalion before later transferring to the 2nd Light Trench Mortar Battery.
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Allan (later Allen) Sharp Marlow, born 10 December 1895, was Percy’s twin brother. They signed up together, joining the 38th Battalion.
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Percy Place Marlow, born 10 December 1895, was Allan’s twin brother. They had consecutive regimental numbers, 119 and 120, and joined the 38th Battalion.
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Albert Wilfred Marlow, born 25 November 1897, was the youngest and last son to enlist, his earlier attempts having been rejected. His parents eventually signed the form allowing him to enlist. He also joined the 38th Battalion.


2011


In 1924 Jim took the long sea voyage to Europe to walk in the footsteps of his five brothers who had gone to war. Eighty-seven years later, in 2011, I embarked on the same journey to France and Belgium with my father and my husband. It was a pilgrimage which, at times, proved overwhelming. The idyllic and peaceful fields of today belie their former existence as the battlefields on which thousands and thousands of men met their deaths. The relics of war abound, many stacked in the yards of the local farmers: shell casings, wire and chunks of broken metal. There are the hundreds of graveyards that scar the verdant fields. There are imposing memorials with thousands of names of the dead and missing, lost to the fields of Flanders and the hell of the Somme valley.


We came to find the graves of my great-uncles and tread the places where they gallantly gave their lives in the shocking carnage of 1914–1918.


This is their story …




PART ONE


1914 TO 1915




ONE


TAKE UP OUR QUARREL
WITH THE FOE …


AUSTRALIA


It was not unexpected. While most rural Australian families waited for the newspaper or their local grocer to confirm the latest news, the British declaration of war on Germany came as no great surprise. The immediate chain of events that catapulted Europe into what would be a devastating conflict had been initiated by a Serbian nationalist’s assassination of the heir to the Austrian throne, Archduke Franz Ferdinand, and his wife on 28 June 1914. Initially, many Australians did not recognise the significance of the event; however as further reports filtered through over the following days, their interest was kindled and talk began. Within a few short weeks a war like no other had erupted.


Austria declared war on Serbia on 28 July. The dominoes fell. Within a week, all the major European powers except Italy were at war. Germany, under the leadership of Kaiser Wilhelm II, threw the full weight of its support behind Austria, as would the ailing, corrupt, financially bereft Ottoman Empire (modern-day Turkey) once German diplomacy reaped its rewards. Russia, however, keen to maintain an interest in the Balkans, mobilised its forces in support of Serbia.


On 1 August Germany declared war on Russia and, two days later, delivered the same declaration to France. On 4 August German troops invaded neutral Belgium en route to France. The Triple Entente, an alliance of mutual support between Britain, France and Russia, was immediately invoked and Britain, in accordance with her alliance obligations, declared war on Germany.


Australia, while recently independent, remained a loyal member of the Commonwealth. In 1914 Australia boasted a tiny population of less than five million consisting largely of British immigrants or their descendants, most with strong ties of allegiance to the mother country. Australia was also acutely aware of the close proximity of the colony of German New Guinea and the nearby islands of the Bismarck Archipelago to its northern shores. The German presence in the Pacific posed a threat to the young nation.


Australian men, eager for adventure, enticed by the lure of income in time of drought and inspired by the fervent patriotism of the era, rushed from the remotest corners of the young Australian nation, flocking to major enlistment centres in large numbers. Many were devastated when rejected — not tall enough, not broad enough, bad teeth, poor eyes, too old, or not old enough. Some persevered and travelled to other centres where the recruitment and medical officers were not quite as particular. Nonetheless, the volunteer Australian soldiers of the first contingent to sail in support of the Empire were the fittest and strongest young men the tiny population could boast. Labour Prime Minister Andrew Fisher famously declared that Australia would commit herself ‘to the last man and the last shilling’1. In hindsight, Fisher’s words were a chilling prophecy of the appalling attrition of young men that was soon to unfold.


For the Marlow brothers, the declaration of war brought some dilemmas. Soldiers were required to stand at least five feet six inches tall, boast a chest of 34 inches and be aged between 19 and 38. Percy and Jim knew they would not meet the initial physical requirements, both a good two inches shorter than required. Charlie and George reached the requisite height, but had obligations to the family farm or to assist other farmers in the local area. It was approaching harvest time — the busiest time of the year for the farming community. Crops stunted by drought still required harvesting. Percy’s twin brother Allan was working at McKay’s store at Pyramid Hill, a job he valued and which paid well. Both Percy and Allan were not yet 21, the required age for enlistment without parental consent. Albert was not quite 16 and fully aware that his parents would not consent to his enlistment. With talk that the war would be over by Christmas, they waited with thinly disguised impatience.


THEATRES OF WAR
THE WESTERN FRONT 1914


Across Europe, the chill of war descended quickly. German forces immediately marched their way through Belgium following plans carefully prepared years before. The Schlieffen Plan had been devised in 1905 and was ready to be enacted in the event of simultaneous declarations of war against France and Russia. The plan involved a lightning-fast advance of German troops through neutral Belgium followed by rapid victory over French forces. At its core were the premises that Belgium would not resist invasion, that Britain would not declare war in support of Belgium, and that France would fall within the estimated six weeks it would take Russia to mobilise its forces to assist the French. With France under German rule, the Kaiser’s army could then move swiftly to defeat the Russian forces in the east.


But Germany had seriously underestimated its neighbours. A stubborn Belgium stoically resisted the invading army while British troops were swiftly deployed across the English Channel. French troops, assisted by the British, made a stand on the Marne River, fighting to save Paris from the German menace. By the end of the bloody Battle of the Marne on 12 September 1914, the attacking German forces had been driven back to the northern reaches of France. There the race to gain control of the crucial ports of the English Channel continued until November 1914 when the First Battle of Ypres reached its agonising conclusion in the teeth of the European winter. Despite enormous casualties, the Allies had prevented German forces taking the vital French ports. North of Ypres, the Belgians opened a lock to create a flooded, stagnant no man’s land that blocked the German invaders’ access to the critical coastal region. The mobile war had ended, the troops dug into a complex maze of fortified trenches which cut its way for over 700 kilometres from Nieuport on the Belgian coast to the Swiss border. This enormous front line, the infamous Western Front, was to remain largely deadlocked for the next four years.


THE EASTERN FRONT AND SOUTHERN EUROPE IN 1914


In southern Europe, Germany’s allies, the Austro-Hungarians, had marched on Serbia, only to have their attack rebuffed by determined Serbian forces. On the Eastern Front, Russian forces surprised the Germans, attacking East Prussia on 17 August 1914. While Russian casualties were immense — an entire army was lost while the other retreated — Germany had been forced to open a second front. The division of German forces between the two fronts had a significant impact on the successful implementation of the Schlieffen Plan. Despite this, the Allies were dealt a powerful blow when the Ottoman Empire (Turkey) joined the German-led Central Powers in October 1914. The poorly equipped Russians were unable to access Allied supplies through traditional land-based supply routes; the seaborne supply routes via the Mediterranean Sea and the strategically vital Dardanelles were likewise closed. British plans to reinforce their Russian ally and control the region would soon result in the first commitment of Australian forces to battle.


ON AUSTRALIA’S SHORES


The Australian Imperial Force (AIF) was raised as an expeditionary force specifically designed to fight abroad. It was to be an army of volunteers and would remain so for the duration of the war. Initially, a small corps of some 2000 men, the Australian Naval and Military Expeditionary Force, was rushed to the German-held colonies of the Bismarck Archipelago and German New Guinea to the north of Australia. German wireless stations were destroyed, forcing the German colonists’ surrender to the Australians by mid-September. It was here that the young nation suffered its first military casualties of the war: six men were killed in the fighting and four wounded. There would be another four long years of devastating warfare and unimaginable casualties to come.


THE FIRST ANZACS


By the end of October 1914, volunteers from every state had assembled at King George Sound in Western Australia. A contingent of New Zealand troops joined the Australians and, on 1 November, the men who would become the first Anzacs sailed in convoy for the Middle East. Within a week a distress call had been received from the Cocos Islands; the Emden, a rogue German cruiser creating havoc in Malay and Indian waters, was approaching Direction Island. The warship Sydney detached from the convoy and engaged the Emden in a brief but decisive battle. The Emden, having suffered heavy damage, was forced aground and many of her crew surrendered.


With the ocean now clear of the threat posed by the Emden, the Australian convoy continued on its voyage to the ancient lands of the Middle East. In the desert sand close to the fabled pyramids of Egypt, the volunteers of the AIF were drilled and instructed for four long months. This was a time in which the young Anzacs developed their celebrated reputation for a unique Australian spirit and, notoriously, their contempt for British officers and the class structure on which the British army based its concept of discipline. The Anzacs were to become renowned for their irreverent sense of humour and their highly developed concept of natural justice — the ideal of a ‘fair go’. They were resourceful and tough, courageous and fiercely loyal, and they were prepared to give their lives for their mates. From this point, the Australian army would forge its own iconic image as an army of citizen soldiers, volunteers who had little time for polish and pettiness.


February 1915 arrived and, while rumours of impending departures to an unspecified theatre of war were rife, it was not until April that the Australians set sail, crossing the Mediterranean Sea en route for the Dardanelles. It would be here, on the fabled and ancient Greek battlegrounds, at the narrow entrance to the Sea of Marmara, that the Allies would attempt to capture the Gallipoli peninsula, held by well-entrenched Turkish troops. The defenders were thinly ranged along the heights above the shoreline and they were determined to protect their homeland. The straits, known as ‘The Narrows’, had been mined; lines of floating mines were anchored throughout the narrow passage that led to the Sea of Marmara. The attempts of the combined British and French fleet to capture the Dardanelles had come to naught, yet this was critical to the planned Allied invasion of Turkey, the key to supporting Russian forces by carving a supply line through to the Black Sea ports.


On the morning of 25 April 1915, the first wave of Anzacs clambered over the sides of their transports into rowboats towed by steam pinnaces. It was 2.35 am. By 4.15 am they were approaching the beach. Dawn was beginning to break, casting a pale light on the faces of the silent men. While most had some sense of the historical significance of their landing, they could not have known that a campaign that would ultimately end in defeat would become the stuff of legend, the failed invasion celebrated as marking the birth of the Australian national character. However the military blunder that was the Gallipoli campaign would cost the lives of over 8700 Australians while some 19,400 were wounded. It would be a nine-month ordeal that would earn the 50,000 Australians who endured the rigours of Gallipoli a reputation for indomitable courage, initiative and fierce loyalty.


While the Marlow brothers did not witness the horrors of Gallipoli, they watched with increasing impatience as the list of killed and wounded grew. Local boys such as Bert (Robert) Wishart of the 9th Light Horse Regiment wrote letters home, many published in local newspapers. Prior to his enlistment Bert had played football with Macorna, a rival Australian Rules Football team to that of the Marlow sons. Seventy years after he rushed to enlist on 17 September 1914 in the wave of excitement that had greeted the declaration of war, he laughingly suggested that I could have asked my grandfather what a fast runner he had been. His older brother Rex (Reginald) had served in the 38th Battalion with the Marlow brothers. Rex died as the result of a gunshot wound to the abdomen on 28 May 1917 during a raid on enemy trenches near Ploegsteert Wood, Belgium.


Bert was sent to Gallipoli with the 9th Light Horse Regiment, 3rd Light Horse Brigade, landing on 16 May and spending six arduous months on the rugged peninsula. Fortune smiled on him in the infamous attack on The Nek on 7 August — he was in reserve and watched in horror as waves of Western Australian and Victorian men were mown down by Turkish machine-gun fire in a miscalculated assault on strongly fortified enemy trenches. Bert’s good fortune continued when, just a few weeks later, half his regiment was killed or wounded in the attack on Hill 602. In late November, those men who had endured six months on Gallipoli were sent to Lemnos Island for a period of rest. Bert was one of only eight original members of his 500 to 600-strong regiment who had survived that first six months. All the other members of his regiment had become casualties — killed, wounded or evacuated with illness. While Bert rested at Lemnos, Britain’s Minister for War, Lord Kitchener, visited Gallipoli for the first time at the behest of the War Committee. He ordered the now-famous evacuation from Turkish soil.


For the men who had fought the Gallipoli campaign, retreat was not easy to digest. Many had left their youth, ideals and particularly their mates on the craggy spurs and in the scrub-choked valleys of the Gallipoli peninsula. For some, having endured months of deprivation and despair, the sorrow outweighed the relief. Bert was among the ranks of the disillusioned. He had seen the horrific sights of war. He had dodged injury and death. The initial patriotic fervour which had driven his enlistment had been lost in the rugged foothills of Gallipoli.


He spent Christmas Day aboard a transport ship sailing to Egypt:


It was Christmas Day, 1915, we were on a boat coming from Lemnos back to Egypt … I was twenty, we’d literally been kicked off Gallipoli, and I can remember saying to myself, “Whyever have we come 8000 miles to fight the Turks, to try and take Turkey from the Turks, I said what has it got to do with Australians?” I thought we deserved to be kicked out … we had no right to be there, it was because some Archduke or somebody in Austria had been killed, what has it got to do with us? I just couldn’t see it, I’d seen so many of my mates that were killed and I thought goodness me what is it all about? It was a terrible waste of young men … I thought at the time we were supposed to end all wars …”3


Bert Wishart went on to fight in the desert campaign in the Middle East, wounded in the Allied assault on the Turkish outpost of Magdhaba on 23 December 1916. He recovered from the gunshot wound to his thigh and returned to his regiment in time for the 4th Light Horse Brigade’s historic charge at Beersheba which led to the fall of Gaza. Bert was the first to leave his home town of Macorna and the last to return, eventually arriving home in November 1919. It was on the farm in the company of his widowed mother, sisters, younger brother and later, his wife Hilda, where peace and the daily rhythms of farm life gave him the opportunity to rebuild his life. He died at Kerang, Victoria, on 21 October 1988 at the age of 93.


MOLOGA, AUSTRALIA, JUNE 1915


By June 1915, Jim, Charlie and George had decided that they would join the ‘fair dinkums’, the men who were now enlisting despite the ever-increasing casualty lists appearing in the newspapers. For many it remained a grand adventure, although the lists of names could not mask the reality. This was an industrial war, men pitted against new technology capable of dreadful destruction, of shocking carnage on a scale never before encountered. The ‘fair dinkums’ knew there was more to this war than adventure and six bob a day.


Charlie was soon disappointed. It was not his turn to fight for king and country. The attestation paper clearly records why he was rejected:


AIF Attestation Paper of Persons Enlisted for Service Abroad


Charles Edward Marlow June 14th 1915


24 yrs Farm


Medical Officer – Owing to bad teeth cannot be accepted otherwise very good


But bad teeth would not keep Charlie from the war for long. Jim was also unsuccessful. Despite the lowering of the minimum height in July to five feet two inches, he was rejected because of his poor eyesight.


George was accepted immediately and now faced the prospect of going to war without his brothers. He enlisted on 12 June and was appointed to the 6th Reinforcements of the 21st Battalion just prior to his departure on 1 October. He was just short of his 23rd birthday. George was soon training in Bendigo and Seymour and then, to his disgust, at the Broadmeadows Camp on the outskirts of Melbourne. The appalling living conditions at Broadmeadows had resulted in a high rate of illness and the camp had been closed in May. However, by the following September, conditions had improved sufficiently for the camp to reopen in time to welcome a new batch of recruits.


15th September 1915


Bendigo
Dear Charlie,


Just a few lines to let you [know] that I am leaving this camp on friday morning for Broadmeadows to join the reinforcements. We just got word that the rest of my company are to go from here and some out of the other companies, 36 of us altogether. They sent 100 away last week and 50 on Tuesday so there is not many of us left. We have to pass the doctor yet, it would be a bugger to be bumped out now. They are putting a lot into reinforcements now. I don’t know when we will be sailing they are going to send a lot away this and next month. Some buggers took my military pants on Monday afternoon. 50 men went away tuesday morning to join the new brigade, I would like to have got in it. I suppose you are having some rain it has been raining here heavily and is very cold and rough. I will write soon as I know my new address. I suppose you have got over your holiday.


I remain


Geordie


Less than a week later George wrote again, telling Charlie that he had arrived at Broadmeadows:


21st September 1915


Dear Charlie


Just a few lines to let you know how I am getting on. We arrived here last friday afternoon. It is a B of a place too, not half as good as Bendigo camp, in fact it is not as good as Seymour. It rained like Hell here last night and we are up to our boot tops in mud and sticks like _______ to a quilt, you wouldn’t believe what it is like, and the wind it would blow a dead horse over there is no timber to break it. I don’t know why they made a camp here, they would spend millions of money here then it would be no good. The only thing that is any good is the huts, they are bonzer huts too. There are 50 of us in each but we might be shifted out into tents but I hope not. The different churches have fine big buildings here. I went to the Church of England last night, the parsons sermon was on the language of the camp, and it is pretty tough I can tell you. Nearly all of us that came from Bendigo broke camp on Saturday afternoon and went into Melbourne and got back about 12 at night, the sentries don’t say anything they just let you walk through. The city was just full of soldiers. There are a lot of returned soldiers in the city. I see in the papers that Frank Penglase’s brother is coming back. Archie Bailey and Andy Erikson are here in the same reinforcements as me. I am in the 6th reinforcements of the 21st battalion. You can address the letters to the YMCA. I have just been in to get my photo taken. How did the football turnout come off, was my photo there in time. I went over to the light horse to see Bert Gibson [cousin] but they are all on final leave and supposed to sail next Saturday. I got no idea when we will be going. I wouldn’t like to be here long. I went out to see Sharp’s on Saturday I didn’t know Mrs Sharp was up home. One of the military airships flew over the camp on Friday. Well I will close now hoping all are well.


I remain your loving brother


Geordie


A few days later, George arrived home on his final leave. Mr Bill Fyffe, local farmer and Sunday School teacher, and the Marlows’ closest neighbours, the Jones family, organised a farewell for George. In small rural communities the support of neighbours was highly valued and the community of Mologa was no exception. As well as being devoted members of the Church of England congregation of St Luke’s, the Marlow, Fyffe and Jones families were always prepared to lend others a hand.


Mologa 25th Sept, 1915


Dear George


On behalf of Mologa Friends I have much pleasure in inviting You, with your Parents, and brothers, to a Farewell Social and Presentation to yourself, in the Mologa Hall, on Monday evening 27th Sept at 8.30.


I remain


Yours Faithfully
William Fyffe
Hon Sect.


The hall was crowded that evening as the community gathered to farewell one of its own with patriotic songs and speeches. The following day the family hitched the horse to the wagon and drove George into town where friends waited at the railway station. Sarah farewelled her son with a mixture of pride and apprehension. Perhaps he promised he would return. It was a promise made to loved ones all over the Empire and it kindled a sense of hope which often left families unprepared for the trauma of a death and the empty place left by those buried on distant shores who would never come home.


Broadmeadows


Sept 30th 1915
Dear Mother


Just a few lines to let you know that I arrived here last night. We got word that we are sailing on Tuesday next at about 3 oclock in the afternoon on a mail boat. I think it is the Moldavia. We were sent away in a special train as soon as we had breakfast this morning to the Williamstown rifle butts for practice and never got back till late we have to wait up tonight to make out our pay sheets and they are giving us our rifles tonight. I went out to Cheyne’s on Tuesday and to Mahoney’s they did not know me at Mahoney’s. Bert Gibson sailed on Monday.4 Send Albert out to Charlie to tell him when I am going he said he was coming down and I don’t know that he will be able to see much of me he could see me at the railway siding at the Port Melbourne pier. Georgie Gibson saw Bert off he walked with him from the Port Melbourne station to the pier but they tell us that we are going right up to the pier in the train but if he intends to come down I could meet him either out here at the camp or next Monday evening or under the clocks at Flinders station that night. I might not be able to get into the town as they have to issue us with our uniforms and clothes yet. I [cannot] write any more now as I have to go back to the lines. The safest way for Charlie to meet me [is] at the end of my lines the 6th of the 21st is marked up at the end of our huts.


I remain


Your Loving Son
Geordie


Albert sent word to Charlie who was camped on the eastern side of the Terrick Terrick Forest clearing the family’s new block of land. Charles senior and Charlie caught the train to Melbourne to farewell George who left Australia aboard the mail ship Moldavia on 5 October 1915. Charlie wrote home from Melbourne to tell his mother of his brother’s imminent departure.


Melb


Dear Mother


Just a few lines we all got down all right and went out to Broadmeadows yesterday and saw Geordie but he could not get off as they were issuing the soldiers their kits etc. but he got off that night and came into Melbourne with us we had tea in here. He did not get the telegram till Sunday morning, on Saturday he was out at Williamstown Rifle Butts and put up the highest score against all his company. He has got tiptop mates they are a lively lot, they sail tomorrow by the Moldavia, it is a mail boat and calls at all the ports so he should have a long way better time on it than on a transport. Well I will have to close now.


I am Yours etc


Charlie E


MOLDAVIA, AT SEA, OCTOBER


Moldavia


Wednesday


Dear Mother, Father & Brothers


Just a few lines to let you know how I am getting on. The sea is fairly calm so far but there are a lot sick yet I think I will be alright. Downie has been very sick all the night. It is good on deck but when you get down below it makes you feel a bit funny. We got through the heads last night about six oclock it was a bit rough going through. We got bonzer tucker on board. 4 meals a day, there are 16 of us at each table and two of us have to go orderlies each day to get the meals and wash up. We have hammocks to sleep in, they are just the thing. I slept as sound as a rock. Nearly all darkies on this boat, they are tricks too. One of the lady passengers gave out about 80 packs of cards to the soldiers, we don’t see much of the passengers. I don’t think we will get any drill on board. We don’t know where we are going yet, one of the officers said we would most likely know when we get to Perth, we get to Adelaide tomorrow “Thursday” morning at 6 oclock. There is a big steamer not far off us now. I will close as I have nothing to write about.


So goodbye with love to all


I remain


Geordie


Later


We have just reached Port Adelaide and have just been told our address for Egypt.


Pte G.T. Marlow


2748


6th reinforcements


21st Battalion


Intermediate Depot


Egypt


To Charlie, he added:


… Well we are a fair way out on the water now. We passed through the heads at 6 oclock last night but I did not notice it, slept too sound, there were a lot sick last night and this morning. I am alright so far but it is calm today … When we got up this morning we could just see a steamer in front of us, we passed within half a mile of it at dinner time and can hardly see it now, it is just 6 oclock so we must be going fairly fast but it was going fairly slow for a while something went wrong with one of the engines. We have just passed another ship it is going the opposite way to us, we are supposed to get to Adelaide tomorrow morning at 6 oclock, they say we are going to be let off for a while. We are going to be allowed anywhere on the boat after we leave Adelaide. It has been a nice sunny day most of us went up on deck and laid down in the sun and had a sleep … We haven’t seen much of the passengers yet but one of the ladies came down and gave out cigarettes and playing cards. Another one is going to give out prizes for tugowar. They have just told us what our address would be in Egypt you will find it on the back of this paper. There is a concert on tonight. It is very muggy down below that is what makes them sick …


The Moldavia


Sunday 10th


Dear Mother, father & Brothers,


Just a few lines to tell you how things are going. We stopped in Port Adelaide for 12 hours, they only let 50 off there they are going to leave some off at every port. It was fairly calm when we left the port but it gradually got rougher and last night it was very rough and is today too, the waves come sweeping over the hurricane deck it is a great sight from on deck looking over the water, some of them slept on deck last night and got wringing wet with the waves. Some of the poor devils are very sick. I have not been sick yet I think I will be right now, I rather like it. Downie is very sick. They started to give us some drill but the officers are too sick to go on with it. We were supposed to have Church Parade this morning but [it] is too rough. We get into Fremantle to[morrow] morning at about 6 oclock. I suppose you have my other letter by now. I not too sure about that address being right they don’t seem to know where we are going yet, most of them put their address this way Name & number 6 of 21 Abroad. It wont be too good going back on the camp tucker again after we leave the boat. We get real good meals. Some of the passengers gave out a lot of chocolates and cigarettes to us. This is all the news this time.


I remain your loving son


Geordie


Later


Tuesday 12th


We arrived in Fremantle this morning at 7 oclock. We are nearly a day behind time on account of going straight against the rough sea. I think they are going to leave us off for awhile.


Sunday 17th 1915


RMS Moldavia


Dear Mother, Father and Brothers,


Just a few lines hoping all are well as I am at present. Well they let all of us off the boat at Fremantle for four hours, we had a good look around the town, it is not a bad little place, the streets all narrow and seem fairly busy some of the men went to Perth it is about 11 miles from Fremantle. The people told us that the last lot of troops that went through played up something terrible they all jumped off the boat without leave and the guard put the bayonet in two of them. One of our fellows was put off at Fremantle, he had the measles. There is another in the hospital with pneumonia and last night they said he was dying. Well since we left Fremantle it has been very calm, I don’t think there have been any more sick, the trip seems to be doing me good, I am 13 stone now. We are in the hot climate now for this last four days I sleep up on deck now it is very close down below. We all have had our hair cut as short as we could get it; we do look tricks now. We wear short nicks, we got orders to cut the blues off just above the knee all we wear now is the flannel nicks and white hat. They have started to do the vaxinating I have not been done yet. The passengers gave us a great concert last night, they had everything fixed up nicely and at the interval they shouted all the troops drinks, it cost them ₤12-10/. Most of the performers were actors going to England. They have been very good to us they have given us a lot of eatables and smokes. They have started boxing tournaments and are giving prizes to the winners in the different weights and are giving prizes for the best tugowar team. We get a little drill now and have to wash our part of the boat out every day and do guard duty. We are supposed to reach Colombo that is the next port on thursday it is 8 days sailing from Fremantle but we might reach there on wednesday as we are going over the limit rate, she is supposed to do 15 knots an hour, yesterday we travelled 360 miles nearly 16 knots an hour, she has had to gain a day we lost going to Fremantle in the rough weather. The 50 devons “British troops” get off at Colombo, all of us have given something each to them and have collected ₤7-10/- this morning for them in about an hour some of the officers and one of the lady passengers gave about ₤4, they only get 1/1 a day each. We have been paid twice since we left, a pound each time. There will be some of my wages sent home soon 4/- a day, see that it comes, and those photos. We had a church service this morning. We got some good war news yesterday by wireless, that the allies had sunk some warships and a lot of merchant ships and that the Germans are losing 20 and 30 thousand [soldiers] a day in France, this is the first war news that we have heard. We have been told what our proper address will be. If you have written any letters I think I will get them with that first address I gave you. I was just called away from writing this letter to get vaxinated, but it is supposed to hurt a little in a few days time if it takes. I hope you have got those other two letters that I wrote. I suppose you have started the harvest by now. Well I will have to close now. We have to post all the letters on board by tonight so I cant get any stamps.


With love to all from Geordie


The following day, George penned a letter to Charlie in which he provided a little more information than he had been prepared to share with his parents:


… Well they let all of us off at Fremantle and we had a good look around the town, it is not a bad little place, we had four hours there. Some of the men went to Perth it is not far from Fremantle. Everyone lined back at the boat in time to sail, some came back a bit merry. The people in the town told us that the last lot that went through played up something terrible. They all jumped off the boat with their rifles and bayonets and went into the shops and helped themselves. Two got the bayonet in them through breaking through the guards. The people there gave us a great rally off when we were leaving. Just after we got out of the port things were only middlen between some of the infantry and light horse men, the beer began to make them talk it seems some of the men reckoned the light horse were trying to run the show and fists were flying all roads it was good amusement for us that were looking on. The sea has been very calm since we left the west none sick at all. We have the measles on board and one chap is supposed to be dying of pneumonia. We are supposed to reach Colombo wednesday 20th after 8 days sailing from Australia. I don’t know whether any of us will be allowed off there. We get some drill each day now and some have to go on guard each day and night. We have to wash our part of the boat out each day, it wasn’t much of a game when the last meals were all over the floor but there is none of that now. We had a great concert given us on Saturday night by the passengers, the performers were mostly actors who are going to England, they shouted us drinks at the interval. The passengers are also given prizes for the winners in the boxing tournament, a prize for the different weights. There has been some good goes, it is starting again this afternoon … We have been vaxinated, I don’t think it is going to take on me, I was only done yesterday and today you wouldn’t know it was done …


Wednesday 20th


We got to Colombo tonight. We have to post all our letters on board by 8 o’clock tonight so I cant get any stamps. This is all the news so goodbye with love to all from


Geordie.


The journey to Colombo was incident-free, with Moldavia anchoring in the Ceylonese (Sri Lankan) harbour along with scores of other steamers and warships busy loading coal and tea before continuing on to Bombay (Mumbai), India. George was suffering from the tropical heat and preferred the cool of the night air on deck. Moldavia arrived at the port of Bombay en route to Aden (Yemen) and her final destination, Egypt.


RMS Moldavia


Wednesday 27th


Dear Albert


Just a few lines to let you know how things are going. We arrived in Bombay on sunday 24th. We stopped about 30 chains out on the water from the town, there is no pier there everything had to be brought to the boat on tugs. We took on a lot of stuff there. All of the tugs and boats are worked by the darkies, the women even work on the coal boats and it is terrible hot and dirty work too, a white man would not last half an hour with them. The black crew got off the boat there and a fresh crew came on, they seemed pleased to be going off. They would not give anyone leave to go ashore but over two hundred of the men jumped on a motor boat and made the crew fetch them ashore, one of the bridging train men got on a wheel and a light horseman started the engine and some did the stoking and away they went, they had about an hour to look around, they sent word after them to be back by eleven o’clock and all of them but 3 came back in time and the 3 have been left behind they will most likely have to stop in the barracks for a fortnight, One was a sergeant he will lose his stripes. A Major belonging to the English army brought them back he said we should all have been let off. All of the men that were on the Osterlg (the last boat that went through) were let off and 50 of them were left behind. The officers said they were going to make it hot for them going off the boat without leave but there hasn’t been anything said since. I like a dam fool stopped on board. They said Bombay is a very nice place it looks nice from the boat. There are forts all along the front of the town we saw a search light flash out at night. The niggers came over to the boat selling fruit, best bananas and oranges I ever tasted 1d for oranges and 6d a dozen for bananas they could sell them a lot cheaper. It was a bit of a luxury to get a feed of fruit we cant get any on board. We stopped a day longer in Bombay than what we should have done. One of the pipes burst when they were lifting the luggage aboard, and they had to put something in one of the engines. The next port is Aden I think they will let us off there. We have the measles and mumps on board, two were put off at Bombay with the measles. It hasn’t been so hot since we left Bombay nearly everyone got a heat rash on them while it was very hot. Send the addresses of some of my relations when you write. Well I will now close hoping all are well as I am at present. I remain your loving brother


Geordie


There is a yarn that we might be sent to England but I think it is like the rest of the yarns.


Later


Thursday 28th 1915


Wed Nov 3rd (Egypt)


We are supposed to reach Aden tomorrow morning. They say it is not much of a place, we have to coal up there. We wont be long now before we are in Egypt we get there about the 2nd of November. We had a concert last night, we gave one of the lady passengers a present, she has been very good to us, always giving us something, so we arranged to give her a present worth about ₤5, about 3d a man. I have been paid twice since I came on board, two pounds altogether. I was going to post this letter at Aden but they told us it would not get home any [faster] than if we waited till we got to Egypt. I will write again soon.


We have arrived in Egypt safely on Wednesday the third of November


ZEITOUN CAMP, EGYPT, NOVEMBER


In one of many entries made in lead pencil in his small, leather-bound notebook, George now added his arrival in Egypt to the details of his voyage:


Pte George T Marlow


Reg. No. 2748


6th reinftns 21st Batt sailed from Australia in the Moldavia 5th Oct 1915 transferred to 7th Batt


Sailed from Port Melbourne 5th Oct on the Moldavia


Arrived at the Suez on the 3rd November 1915


Rifle No 30997


To this he added pages of addresses of fellow soldiers, family and friends, pay calculations and notes from the various training schools he had attended. He recorded brief details of his movements, simply noting the names of places and battles with no insight into his emotions at the time. His letters home became the repository for his personal reflections. He composed a lengthy letter to his mother in which he described his first experiences in Egypt:


Yeitoun Camp5


Sunday 7th November 1915


Dear Mother


We arrived here in camp on the third of November at 8 o’clock pm. We got off the boat at Suez and caught a train there and landed here after seven hours ride. We had a very decent trip right through, after leaving the station it was very barren looking country but got better as we went on. We stopped at different stations going through and got some fruit and water melons. The huts they live in out of the towns would amuse you they are made of mud and are only about 5 or 6 feet high and all cramped up together, how they can live in them I don’t know, a white man would die within a week of fever, the fowls camp up on top of them. It is a great place for maize and sugar cane and other green stuff but mostly maize, especially around Cairo you can go for miles and see nothing but green paddocks of it. We could not see all the country going through as it was dark but what we did see didn’t look too bad. We passed three hospital trains with Australians and Indians on board. We only had half a mile to walk from the station to the camp, they soon fixed us up with blankets and something to eat, we were put in huts but have been shifted since into tents. They have special huts for all the troops to have their meals in, we all sit down to tables and do it in style. The tucker is much better than at Broadmeadows, we get curry and rice for breakfast the dinner is much the same with a little of different kinds of vegetables and some preserved fruit. We get up at half past five in the morning and go out at half past six and do bayonet drill till breakfast time half past 8 we get a cup of tea and biscuit just after we get up. We go out again at 9-30 and come back at 11 and have an hours spell, go out again at 12 and drill again until 1 o’clock and then have dinner, we go out again at 2-30 and come back again at about 5-30, but if on a rout march might not get back until 7 or 8 o’clock, but they seem to have done away with a lot of the long rout marches, we have had one march so far, we went about 10 miles one afternoon. It is supposed to be winter here now but it is just about the same as what it is in Australia now, we are lucky to get here in this time of the year, it must be terrible hot in the summer time. It is a bit heavy drilling on the sand. At night it gets very cool and early in the morning it gets very cold. We got half a day off the day after we came into camp, we went into Cairo, it is about 7 miles from here, it only costs half a piastre (that is 1¼d) to go there. I know all their coins it was a bit awkward at first, we lose ¾ on every shilling coin, ½d on every 3d piece but with a gold coin we get a little over the value. Their coins are ½ piastre 1¼d in our money, 1 piastre 2½d, 2 piastre 5 and 10 and so on. The worst of their money we get such a lot of coins for a quid. We can get nice soft drinks and ice cream here but the beer and whisky is not safe to be drunk, but I think they can get the English drink. Well Cairo is not much of a place it stinks like the devil I wouldn’t live here if I was paid to, I did not think it was as bad a place as it is. It is just swarming with people, all sorts arabs, Egyptians and I think there are a lot of Turks there too, you don’t see many white people only a few French. One of the lady passengers that came across with us, a doctors wife invited all of the troops that came across on the Moldavia to come to the pyramids with her today and other places and she was going to pay for everything, my word she was good to us coming across she spent pounds and pounds on us. I did not go I wanted to write these letters as the mails leave here tonight. They only keep the men here three or four weeks now so I might be gone by the time you get this letter. I haven’t seen anyone that I know yet but one of my mates and I are going over to another camp this evening about a mile away, the heleopilis [Heliopolis] camp. There are a immence lot of troops in camp here, they say if you get up on the pyramids you see nothing but military camps. There are men from everywhere, Australians, English, Scottish, Canadians, Indians, Maiors [Maori New Zealanders] and all sorts. The Maiors are a fine stamp of fellows and real nice chaps too. Well I suppose everyone are very busy with the crops now, I hope they turn out well. Well I will now close, it is dinner time here and I suppose you will just about be going to bed. I write again in time to catch the next train so goodbye hoping all are well as I am at present. I remain your loving son


Geordie.


Writing to Charlie the same day, George was a little more forthcoming with his impressions of his new surroundings:


… It was very barren looking country till we got a long way from Suez station, then it gradually got better small plots of maize along the line but around Cairo it is nothing else but maize, there seems to be plenty of water, big channels running full. We stopped at some of the stations coming through, and as soon as the train stops the arabs are around you in dozens trying to sell you fruit and different things. They have very little huts that they live in only a few feet high, this is out in the country. Some of them are terrible crooks they would try and sell bad fruit and beat you for money, most of the men didn’t know anything about their money, but one chap that had been over before told some of us all about it. Some of the men made it a bit lively for them at one of the stations we had to stop there half an hour and they took the fruit off them and jumped on their donkeys and had a ride around, by jove it was funny. We passed three hospital trains with australians and Indians on board. They tell us they don’t send them home now like they use to do, they have to be crippled up now before they will send them home. The camp is only half a mile from the station and about 7 miles from Cairo. We were put in huts when we got here but we are now in tents, it is not near as good, there are twelve of us in each tent, it is too many. Every thing gets covered in sand it is inches deep and so loose and as for marching it is a bugger. We have all our meals in mess huts and have tables to sit up to, the tucker is not bad but is generally covered in flies. It is supposed to be winter here now but it is dam hot, must be terrible in the summer time, the nights get very cold. We have to get up at 5.30 in the morning, go out to drill at 6.30 for two hours bayonet drill, we have to do it different here to what they have been doing in Australia it is much easier, we had a sergeant major from England showing us how to do it, I would like to be as good as him … They showed us how to dig ourselves in, we have to dig ourselves in in 20 minutes here. We all have to do some trench digging and put in about a week at the rifle butts at shooting. We have had one long march so far, we left the camp at 3 o’clock and got back again at 7.30, I think we must have went 10 or 12 miles, there were a lot of us the whole reinforcements for the sixth brigade. It is terrible dusty marching through sand, I would not like to be here long, we will be gone to the front by the time you get this letter, they only keep the men here three or four weeks now, they are sending them to the front in thousands every week, 5000 left the night we came in and they were only in camp here 3 weeks and they are sending them over from Australia very fast, 2000 came into camp last night, I think there will be something great doing soon. I haven’t been to the pyramids yet but they say when you get up on them you can see nothing but military camps, there are troops from everywhere here, the maoris are fine fellows. The water here is not too good, it causes the diarrahea the returned chaps tell us it is one of the worst enemies of the dardanelles, they say it is very cold there at present. We got half a day off the day after we came in so we went into Cairo, a chap that one of my mates knew showed us all around the town, well I thought it was a fairly bad place but I had no idea that it was as bad as it is, it is something terrible, by jove it would open your eyes, they will say anything to you … [page missing]


Perhaps there is a reason for the missing page in which George was ready to describe to his older brother exactly what ‘they’ would say. There are some suggestions that, at any one time, there were over 30,000 prostitutes working in Cairo alone. Many Australian men were repatriated to Australia when the temptations of Cairo left them with venereal disease. Their war records were clearly stamped ‘V.D.’ and all pay would cease. While procuring a prostitute was not illegal, contracting venereal disease was considered a military offence as the soldier was then unfit for front-line service. Once the AIF moved to England and the Western Front the practice of returning men to Australia was discontinued. As soon as they were considered well enough to fight, the men were sent back to the trenches. The records of the Marlow sons have no such stamp; perhaps they chose to heed the advice of the padres and doctors who routinely lectured the soldiers on the dangers of commercial sex. Many men ignored the warnings, some naïve, others simply reckless. The afflicted presented a very real problem to military authorities as venereal disease depleted the fighting force and Australia had the dubious honour of the highest rate of VD of the Allied forces.6


Dear Mother


Just a few lines to let you know that I am alright. I have not got any news, it is a half holiday every saturday here and most of the men have gone out. I did not go out today as I had a lot of letters to write and we don’t get much time for writing other days, it is always dark when we come in from drill the sun sets very early here. I am thinking of going to see the pyramids tomorrow. It was open camp when we came here first but now we are not supposed to go without leave well in fact there is not much to see if we should go out only that I would like to go to some of the other camps I might strike someone that I know. They are a bit stricter here some of our chaps are doing C.B. already.7 I don’t know where we are going yet there is a yarn that they are going to take the troops from the Dardanelles and sending them to Salonake [Salonika]. The war news that we have been getting here has been pretty good. They say the turks are coming to make another attack here in Egypt. Well I will now close hoping all are well.


I remain your loving son


The mails close here every sunday night, I will write again next week. We were inspected by the General yesterday morning. The Bridging Train men that came over with us left here for the front this morning.


Just where the reinforcements were to be sent was a hotly debated topic. England, France, Gallipoli and, as George mentions, Salonika (Thessalonika) in Greece, where British and French troops had been rushed to assist Serbia against a Bulgarian invasion — all were rumoured as possibilities. The uncertainty led to frustration among the men and George quickly became exasperated with the monotony of drill, sand and bad food. The town of Heliopolis, on the outskirts of Cairo, provided some relief. Constructed in recent years, it had originally been designed to rival Monte Carlo with gambling facilities, accommodation and entertainment parks, but had been refused the required gambling licence. Nevertheless, it represented an oasis in the sands of Egypt. The Palace Hotel, now converted to a hospital for the wounded from Gallipoli, contained 3000 beds. A short distance from the hotel, the skating rink, haunted house and other entertainment facilities of Luna Park were no longer bringing enjoyment to tourists, also converted to a medical facility capable of accommodating 2000 patients.


Yeitoun Camp


Sunday 14th Nov 1915


Dear Charlie


Just a few lines to let you know that I am alright. I suppose you will know the chaps in the photo you met them at Broadmeadows. Jim Gritton the tall chap that I mentioned to you went straight into the hospital to be operated on for rupture. He was bad on the way over and the doctor on board told him he would have to be operated on here or be sent back, he is getting on alright so far. One of my mates from my tent was sent to the hospital yesterday he has the diptheria. I think I pointed him out to you in Broadmeadows his name is Bill Leask he comes from near Leongatha he knows old Jim Haw. They are a lot stricter here, a lot of my company are doing C.B. already. I was going out to see the Pyramids today but have to go on guard at one of the stations, they have guards on the tram cars and every where. They have pickets to go round to all the houses every night and hunt the men home. There are a lot of troops shifting from here to another camp today. Well I have no more news this time, the mails leave here every Sunday night so I will write again next week.


I remain your loving Bro


Geordie


Nov 17, 1915


Yeitoun Camp


Dear Charlie


… Well I have been here a fortnight today. It hasn’t been so hot this week. I haven’t felt so good in the stomach this last two days, I think it is the tucker, too many maggots in it, a lot of us paraded today before the Heads for more and better tucker. Three of us went into Helopilis last night to see Gritton in hospital. I got quite a surprise to see such a fine town after seeing Cairo. Such fine big buildings you wont see one low building and it is a very clean place. You wouldn’t believe what a fine place it is. The buildings in Melbourne are not a patch on them of course it is a new town. But you wouldn’t think so by the size of it. We saw a big church my word it is a lovely building. Nearly all the French people are in Helopilis. You don’t see any of the slum. The fifth reinforcements of my battalion are going to the front next week, they only came here a week before us, it is hard to say where they will send us. They have sent 120,000 Australians and New Zealands to the front up to now and there must be a good many in camp here, the cities are just swarming with them of a night. A lot from New Zealand came in this week, the Maiors are the boys that can drill. We had a march last night and finished up with an attack. We are getting all kinds of drill here and plenty of extended order drill making short quick rushes and flopping down on the sand and digging ourselves under cover it is every bit as bad as real hard work, we are always covered in dust when we come in. This is all the news this time.


I remain your loving Bro


Geordie


21.11.15


Dear Mother


Just a few lines to let you know I am sending a little box with some silks in, they are registered so you ought to get them safely nearly all the boys send some home, they are supposed to be the best silks you can get, there is a cushion cover, a table centre to put a flower pot on, a scarf, handkerchief and a lace. It has got a little cooler here now, the nights are fairly cold, I am still in the tents but half of our company have been shifted into the huts, it is warmer of a night in the tents. We did not go out to drill one morning it was too dusty but an officer back from the front gave us a lecture instead, he says they get a lot better tucker at the front than what they get here. I have been into Heliopilis it is a very nice place, much different to Cairo, there are some wonderful buildings, the Palace Hospital is a tremendous big place and is something lively inside, three of us went there to see a chap who has been operated on, he was crook coming over on the boat and the doctor told him he would either have to be operated on here or be sent back to Australia, he is getting on alright, a lot of my company has been sent to the hospital they reckon it is like home in there. The town is full of troops of an evening and it is just the same in Cairo. There is trouble along the Suez again, the turks are coming up to have another go there were 3 lots of light horsemen left here last night to go there. I don’t know whether Bert Gibson would be among them I haven’t seen him yet …


[continued on photo]


… This photo is three of my mates & myself. You have seen two of these in Bendigo. The one standing up in the centre is the chap … There were 10 of them picked out of the ranks for M.P. but they need not stop at it. We go to the Butts for shooting this week, we have to stop there for 3 or 4 days. There have been a lot of New Zealanders come into the camp this last week. It tried to rain here this morning but all we got was a mist, there is a slight mist every night. This mail leaves Egypt on the 24th so I suppose you will get it by xmas. Well I have no more news this time. Hoping all are well as I am at present.


I remain your loving son


George


Just a few days later, George sent the same photo home to Allan:


[image: images]


George on left, George Downie standing centre, the other men are unknown.


[image: images]


One of George’s letters, written typically in pencil.


Tuesday 23 No 1915


Dear Allan


Just a few lines to let you know that I got your letter this morning. These photos are some of my mates and myself; the one standing up in the centre has gone into hospital this morning with the mumps. I hope to god I don’t get them they say they are kept in the isolation hospital for about a month. I am sick of drill, five months of it is too much wont be sorry when I get to the front. Greece seems to be going to go against us, We might have to fight at the Suez yet. Well Al I cant write anymore have to go on a night attack. Will write again next mail. I remain Your loving Bro


Geordie


I haven’t met any one that I know yet.


Yeitoun Camp


Sunday November 21st 1915


Dear Charlie


Just a few more lines before I close this letter up. An officer from the front belonging to my battalion gave us a lecture on the war in the Dardanelles, it was very interesting. He spoke on how to use the bombs and hand and rifle grenades, he says the trenches we have to go in are only 50yds away from the turks at the most and some are only 20, the turks used to throw bombs and the australians used to throw them back again, he warned us not to try that now because the turks don’t throw them now till just before they explode and we have to throw a blanket or a coat over them. Each side are sapping [tunnelling] all the time he says you can hear the turks digging sometimes, the Australians are advancing under ground by digging tunnels and then make a trench and dig the top off it, he says there is a hell of a lot of hard work to do it sounds very healthy what he says about the fighting but I don’t care how soon I get there, and I don’t think it will be very long either, we are going to the butts tomorrow and they never stop much longer than a week after that, they take a note of each ones shooting to pick out the best that’s for sniping, in the quick firing we have to get 10 shots in half a minute, we have to load up and all in that time. One of the snipers in the 21st Batt. at the dardanelles has got 142 turks altogether and is still going strong they take enough tucker to last them for 3 days and go out and snipe they don’t be shooting all the time, sometimes they have to wait a long time for a shot, this officer said that this sniper whom is halfcast from Victoria is a wonderful good shot, he has been awarded the D.C.M. and made a sergeant. The lice are very bad at the front, they only have one lot of clothes the others are left at Alexandra, they go down for a swim sometimes but are always fired on by a big gun which they cant find but they think it is on a train and comes up and down every day. Most of the returned chaps seem to think they will never take the dardanelles now they reckon they would have had a good chance at the start if they had more men there. The officer was telling us that the tucker is better at the front than it is here but there is a terrible lot of sickness. There is trouble at the Suez again the turks are coming up to have another go, there were three lots of light horse left here last night to go there. Things seem very serious in the Balkans and the Greeks are inclined to go with Germany, they reckon if they do there will be an outbreak here because there are a lot of Greeks and Turks in Egypt. This officer that was giving us the lecture says there are spies here because when he left Alexandra for the front there were a lot of head officers on board and they were torpedoed and the boat went down and a lot of officers and men were drowned. There were about six boats altogether and the submarines let all the others pass, he reckoned they knew which boat the heads were on.


I remain your loving brother


Geordie


The mail leaves Egypt for Australia on the 24th the mails leave about once a fortnight but they leave the camp once a week. I have sent a parcel with some silks in, I hope they get it it is registered so it ought to be safe, nearly all the boys send something home. I was into Heliopilis yesterday. I don’t think Downey will be going to the front, he has taken on a job of M.P. I think he is afraid he wont be able to stand it, he has got terrible thin since he left Australia, and being young makes the difference, this officer said that a lot of young men get nervous and get a jumping feeling …


Tuesday 23rd Nov 1915


Dear Mother, Father & Brothers,


Just a few lines to let you know that I got your letter and Allans today and was pleased to get a letter as it seems such a long time since I got one. The mails leave Egypt for Australia tomorrow but they have left the camp yesterday so I am writing this one and chance it may get away alright, and am giving it to a chap to post in Cairo tonight they close tomorrow morning. I would go in and post it myself but we have to drill tonight we don’t do any drill this afternoon but we have tea at half past 4 o’clock and go out at 5.30 and our company and a couple of others have to attack another lot of troops, we are supposed to attack with the bayonet and not fire a shot, the other side fire with blank cartridges it will last about three hours, we get these one night every week, I like it alright because we get all the afternoon off and get a chance to write some letters. Am very sorry to hear that Blossom is dead, you will be short of horses to do the harvesting. I think all the best Australian horses are over here, they look bonzer, I seen some working the artillery this morning by jove they do work well. You never said whether you are getting my pay or those photos, dad has the receipt for them, I have plenty of money on me. Tell Chrissie Alford that I never got her letter but I might chance to get it over here as a lot of the boys got letters today that were addressed to Broadmeadows. I hope you get the little box of silks safely, they do some wonderful good work with the silks and all by hand, the shops in Heliopilis are just full of fancy work. Be sure and let me know what reinforcements Amos [Haw] and Ray [Leed] are in and also Charlie Cockcrofts [Cockroft] and if you can find out I might chance to meet them at the front. I would like to meet my cousin there. I intended to get the addresses of all my relations in England before I came away. Downey, the chap from N.S.W. has gone into hospital today, he has the mumps there has been such a lot of my company get them, I hope I don’t get them not that they are painful in any way but I would lose my company, he is the third one of my mates that has gone into hospital since we came here. It is hard to say where we will go yet, we might have to go to the Suez yet, it is not far from here, they have sent men from here to dig trenches there and are sending loads of sandbags there everyday. It seems as though Greece are going to be against us after all, I think there will be hell to do here if they do come against us there are a lot of Greeks in Cairo and I think they would get hell too, the people are all much alike and look a soft and childish lot, but the real Egyptian look much different. The arab are big and strong looking people, they wear long dresses just the same as a woman but they are just like big kids. They are building a very big brick place in this camp to show pictures in, there is no amusement in this camp and to go into Cairo now we have to get a pass but we can go to Heliopilis without a pass. The heads reckon the troops were beginning to own Cairo, I don’t blame them either some of the places want burning down, I haven’t been in there for over a fortnight and haven’t got to the pyramids yet I was going there sunday but my mates got put on fatigue work so I wasn’t going by myself. Well I might have to draw this letter to a close it will soon be time to go out to drill again. You all will have a lot of work with the harvest I hope it turns out well. I will bring that piece of heather that my cousin sent to the front with me it might bring good luck. This is all the news this time will write again next mail. It leaves in a fortnight’s time. So goodbye with love to all.


I remain your loving son


George


Tell Al I received his letter, was going to write again to him but have not time.


DECEMBER, MOLOGA


As family and friends at Mologa were busy bringing in the harvest, dealing with the routine of daily life and preparing for Christmas, the situation on the other side of the world was becoming increasingly grim. Lord Kitchener had finally recognised the futility of the Gallipoli campaign and the evacuation plan was now in place. Over 80,000 men, 5000 horses and 200 heavy guns were quietly withdrawn from Gallipoli without alerting the enemy. These men and their equipment were now on their way to Egypt.


In Europe, the Western Front remained deadlocked in the line of trenches that ran through France and Belgium from Ypres to the Swiss border, while in Eastern Europe the German-Austrian offensive had taken Warsaw and the Allied Russian army had been forced to retreat. In southern Europe, despite the landing of Allied troops at the Greek port of Salonika to boost the flagging Serbian forces, the combined strength of Austria and Germany and their new ally, Bulgaria, proved too powerful. By October Serbia had been defeated. Italy joined the Allied forces in May 1915 creating another deadlocked front along border regions with Austria-Hungary. In the Middle East, the threat of a Turkish invasion of Egypt looked increasingly likely.


It was in this menacing climate that the Australian Prime Minister, Billy Hughes, while promising another 50,000 Australian soldiers to the British High Command, launched an aggressive enlistment campaign, completing a war census that listed some 244,000 Australian men as statistically, though not necessarily medically, eligible to enlist. Individual appeals were sent to those identified. Pressure came not only from official sources. The ‘Order of the White Feather’ was established in England in 1914, its purpose to encourage women to send or present a white feather, the traditional symbol of cowardice, to men of eligible age who were not in uniform. It was a practice that quickly spread to other nations, including Australia.


It is unclear whether white feathers ever reached Mologa; however, this small community was rife with conflicts of its own as the following letters written to George from Mologa reveal. The first correspondence is from Aileen Lowrie, Head Teacher at the Mologa East State School between 1913 and 1915. The second letter from Charlie describes tension in the community over the fundraising activities of the Red Cross. Aileen’s public farewell was the event that saw the genesis of the conflict.


SS 1836 [State School]


Mologa E


Dec 15th ‘15


Dear George,


I spent last night with your mother. While there I read your letter which was indeed very interesting George. You were as usual very unselfish when you preferred to write to those at home rather than take the opportunity of that treat which the lady so very kindly provided. But I am sure you would be repaid if you could only see how pleased your dear mother is to receive your letters. The part where you were describing Cairo tickles me and before I go any further I must ask you if you are speaking from experience when you say “Cairo stinks like the devil” – have you ever been close enough to the latter to find out? Well George, Christmas will soon be here. Only two days now until “knock-off” time for me. I will throw up my old hat and jump on it I can assure you. I suppose you would have heard about poor Alan having his collar bone broken on account of falling from the motor-bike. Your father was up on Monday when he was getting on splendidly. You know he is back at McKay’s as overseer. He said that if he had been at the war and popped over a few Germans before such a thing happened there would have been some honor about it but as it is it ain’t no good. A young fellow who had been Kitchen boy at M Kelly’s in Pyramid was drowned in the weir last Saturday afternoon. He was about 18 I am told. Mrs Wm Townsend senior came home again today. She went to Bendigo and underwent another operation and they say she is cured – but that remains to be seen.


Albert and Jim are up to their eyes in work with the harvesting. They miss you they are quite pleased with the way the crops are yielding. Jim’s vegetable garden looks so nice. We had both potatoes and French beans from it for tea last night and I did enjoy them. The tomato plants are just laden with fruit but they are not quite ripe yet. Billy Williams has a great garden - turned Chinaman altogether. I believe he has been selling tomatoes for some time. I must not forget to tell you about the stir which Mrs Rankin’s maid created just recently, she got this girl from Bendigo about a fortnight ago & I must tell you that she appeared just what she proved to be. Well, to begin … Mrs Rankin went in to change the maid’s bed & in so doing found towels, handkerchiefs, tea-towels, empty soft drink bottles & quite an assortment of lollies. Then she went to Jack’s money box and found it empty. They accused her but she flatly denied. They then sent for Mr Brown, but during the meantime she escaped towards Mitiamo but was held up at the cattle yards by his worship, she got away in a pair of Mrs Rankin’s shoes too.


Evening


I saw Alan this evening – he came down by train. His shoulder is getting on splendidly & he is as cheeky as ever he was. I am wondering what my new school Nth Blackwood will be like. I’ll get there quite soon enough though I am sure. Well, George, old boy, I think I must really stop or you’ll tire of reading. A Merry Christmas & a Bright & Prosperous New Year is my heartfelt wish for you. I wonder if you will have a meal of “Turkey” or will it be “germans”.


Kindest regards & very best wishes for good luck & God speed.


From your old friend


Aileen V Lowrie


Mologa


Sunday 12th


Dear Geordie,


Just a few lines today I wrote to you last Sunday and I am not doing anything today so I thought a few lines might go alright we are still stripping I have finished Mahoney’s. My share was 584 bags of wheat and 160 bags of oats so I have not done to bad the crop averaged a little over 8 bags wheat and 16 bags of oats. I think we will be finished by Christmas our crop is yielding about the best in the district it is beating them home here. I am sending you the Christmas Number of the Australasion.8 I am not sure whether it is allowed to go or not but I will chance it I cannot get it today myself as it is Sunday but I am getting Albert to get it on Monday and address it to you I hope it will reach you alright I believe Tom Gray has not received a letter from Australia at all he has written to Mr Jones. There was hell to pay in Mologa last night over a send off to Miss Lowrie. G. John is secretary and some of them wanted a red cross sale there also and Mrs Johnnie P. put a notice up at the station about it and never consulted George about it and he called a meeting and then the fun began Jack Delaney told him he was the meanest man in Mologa and that he ought to be tarred and feathered and there was trouble all round and the johns got a knock out so they are going to have a sale of gifts as well as the send off. I believe Miss Lowrie has written two letters to you and Pearl was going to write last week this is the fifth letter I have written we have not got a letter from you for about a fortnight now I suppose by this you are in Egypt what do you think of that place I suppose the sand and flies go some it is very hot here this last few days. I told you in my last letter that Allan got his collar bone broken he has gone back to McKays he is not home today but he is getting on alright again. Have you got any idea when you will be going to the front the war does not seem to be nearing a close at all yet Australia is going to send another 50, 000 yet I do not know where they are going to get them from they will soon have all the men from here. Well I hope you are getting on all right and the rest of the chaps remember me to those I met especially Archie Bailey tell them I wish them good luck. Well I will draw to a close this letter will go on the “Moltan” I hope you get all my letters I write nearly every boat, I will now say goodbye Geordie and Good luck and a happy and good new year a good time and a safe return I am your loving brother.


Charlie E. Marlow


In the context of the life of a soldier, the pettiness that Charlie describes will have caused some amusement, and George will probably have enjoyed Aileen’s gossipy news of home. However, her words are laden with meaning. Allan had spoken to her of his injury and its less than glorious cause. His reference to the honour of a wound incurred in front-line service is the first indication that he was planning to follow his older brother to boost the numbers of the AIF. By the time George received the letter in late January, Allan’s shoulder had healed and his plans were well underway.


ZEITOUN CAMP, EGYPT, DECEMBER


In the lead-up to Christmas, George struggled to cope with his distance from home during what was an important traditional family celebration. He was now not only writing lengthy letters home, but also sending numerous postcards with views of Egypt and greeting cards with Christmas wishes. One simple card, bought from the AIF Gifts Store at the Savoy Hotel in Cairo, bears the outline of a boomerang on which are written the words ‘I go out to return’. An irony existed in the original verse which mocks the hope of return:


… Our lands of freedom over the sea,


Our homes and our bright blue skies,


The sweeping plains and the dear green trees;


We would give our lives and soul for these


And we’ll fight to the last man dies.


This was a Christmas card featuring appropriately patriotic words, although I doubt it brought great comfort or joy to its recipients. For many families the poem would come to represent the realisation of a feared prophecy.


December 4 1915


Yeitoun Camp


Dear Albert,


Just a few lines to tell you that I don’t think there will be any more Australians sent to the Dardanelles till after the winter, that will be feb. or march. Lord Kitchner has just been over there and now they are going to send the Australians back to Egypt and put Canadians in their place as they are used to the cold climate. There are some back already, they will have to make some fresh camps I think this one is full right up now. I think they are going to send us back to the Suez, as the Turks are going to make another attack, it will be a proper one this time as they have built a railway up towards the Suez, they tell us that when they attacked before they were about 200,000 strong but had to go back as they had no way to bring provisions up. We might be formed into a new brigade, there is a yarn to that effect. I received your letter also one from Charlie. It is very cold here in the night now but is warm in the day time. On the first of December it was field day. A big crowd of us left here after breakfast, bringing our dinner with us and marched out over the desert had dinner and made an attack on another lot that went out before us, it is a bit tough charging up sandy hills, we arrived back at the camp in time for tea. The next night we had another attack and Friday we went for a rout march, by jove there was a string of us about a mile long in fours. I went to the Pyramids last sunday and climbed right up to the top of them, it takes a fair while to go to the top but they are worth climbing, get such a bonzer view, but it is a wonderful affair, how they got such amense blocks of stone up there, and is built so well. I went inside apart of the way but was too hot and crowded to look right through it all, have to crawl a long way in before you come to a chamber, my word it is worth seeing I intend to go in again some other time and look right through them, it took an hour to go out and an hour to come back. We passed the zoo and gardens going there they say they are well worth seeing I have not been there yet, we also crossed over the Nile it has a bonzer bridge over it. The Mena camp is right close to the pyramids and also the hospital. A lot of the chaps in my company are getting the mumps, there are three gone out of my tent to the hospital with them, two of them are mates of mine they are kept there for about five weeks. Well I have no more news this time. Hoping all are well as I am at present.


I remain your loving Bro


Geordie


There are some more mails coming in tomorrow.


Sunday Dec 12th, 1915


Dear Mother and Father,


I received the letter from you and Jim also one from Charlie and from Auntie Etta. I hope Dad has got rid of his rash by now, one of the chaps in my tent had a rash on him much like the one Dad gets. I am very sorry to hear about Beat Saville being dead it must have been very sudden. Glad to hear the crops are so good. Tom Jackman has just landed here, he says the crops are looking splendid. I suppose Amos and Ray will soon be here, now that they have had their final leave. There were a lot of men come in lately, the new brigade and about 1200 remounts have just arrived here. They will have a big crowd of troops here now that they are not sending anymore to the Dardanelles till after the winter, a lot have been sent back some have gone into hospital with frost bites. They have just had a tough fight at the front, we heard that the Turks mined two companies 23 and 24 and blew them up a bit and that the Australians won it back and also took some hill and 3 miles of railway, a lot of wounded have arrived here at the hospital. There were four companies took part in it the 21, 22, 23 and 24, and one of the men in my company got a cable from his father in Australia telling him that it is rumoured in Melbourne that the 6 of the 21st were in it, so it shows you how yarns get about. We might have to fight here yet, we have all been formed up into a battalion ready to go in case we should be wanted. They say that the Turks have built five railways up towards the Suez, the British are building a big railway now. If we don’t have to fight here it will be a long while before we go to the Dardanelles. I heard that little Tom Lowe has gone back to Australia and that big Tom is in a London hospital. Charlie Cockcroft is in the hospital with the mumps, I got a letter from Downie who is in there too, saying that he happened to mention my name and Charlie heard him, no-one is allowed in there, or I would go and see him, Downie says he is alright and as fat as a pig. A lot of men go out looking for beads and different things each sunday, there has been a city buried many years ago, it is only half a mile out from the camp, it is part of our drilling ground, there was supposed to have been a great battle fought there once and is covered with deep holes full of bodies, all that can be seen now are bones. There is a chap in my company, his name is Bush he says he knows Dad he used to go up to Dripps for his holidays, he comes from Moonee Ponds.9 Well I havent much news but will be writing again next week to Jim. I hope you are getting all my letters. They have mail bags in Cairo by the thousands but cant sort them quick enough. I will now close hoping all are well as I am at present.


I remain your loving son


George


They are wanting horse drivers, stretcher bearers and boot makers here now.


In his letter to Charlie, George typically included more detail:


… I suppose you have heard about the 2 or 3 companies of Australians being blown to atoms out of the trenches, we heard here that there were about 600 killed and 1000 wounded and that the attack was at that Lonesome Pine … A lot of the wounded have come in to the hospital from this last attack, those that saw them say that they look terrible wrecks … The returned chaps here don’t think there is much chance of taking the Dardanelles. None of them are anxious of going back to the front … Ken Laird had just left here for the front when we arrived here and young Hill from Calivil has only just left here too but I suppose they will both be back again soon because since Kitchener has been over there they are sending them back again … We were getting very little tucker here for a while but are getting more now. The lice are very bad, they call them sand lice they are about as big as dog fleas they give us hell at times …


16/12/15


Yeitoun Camp


Dear Jim,


Just a few lines to let you know that I got a letter from you yesterday also the one last week from you and mum. There was another lot of letters given out today but nearly all of them had been addressed to the Broadmeadows camp. I thought I might get that one from Chris, but no luck. I have received 4 from home, 2 from Charlie & I from Allan. One of my mates that has been with me ever since we left Bendigo says that he went to school with some of the Alfords, the elder ones, ask them do they remember him, his name is L [erased]. Glad to hear that dad is getting better again. You will have a lot of work this harvest and wont have too many horses either. Must have had a great feed of peas, we get some here in the stew but they are hard ones, they are picked too late. They grow a lot of vegetables and fruit here, there are some big gardens with orange trees in them and other fruit trees. I don’t know what to write about, we are not allowed to say much now all the letters are to be handed in unclosed and are censored now. Yesterday it was field day we left the camp at 8am and took our dinner with us and marched out over the desert and attacked another party of troops we all had blank cartridges to make it a little like real, we arrived back in time for tea, we don’t get out this afternoon till 5 o’clock and go out on a night attack till 8pm, tomorrow afternoon is a rout march. The new brigade and 1 200 remounts have arrived here and some other troops came in last night, one lot is the 7 reinforcements of the 21 Batt. They are getting very particular here about the way to dress and so on. We are to keep hair cut short and to shave every day and have to wear our tunics all the time while we are drilling and it is dam hot with them on from about 10 am till about 3pm then it gets a little cooler, at night it is very cold and there is generally a thick fog in the morning. I suppose Amos and Ray will soon be here now, Charlie Cockcroft is in the hospital with the mumps I haven’t seen him yet. Tom Jackman is here in the remounts, they are mostly old chaps and the rejects. Well I have no more to write about this time so will close hoping all are well. I remain your affectionate Bro.


George


Christmas arrived and departed with little fanfare. It was probably the first Christmas that 23-year-old George had spent without the company of his family.


Dec 31st 1915


2748


6 rfms 21 Batt


6 Inf Bgde


A.I.F.


Egypt


Dear Charlie


… I don’t know what your Christmas was like but it was a fairly quiet one here that is in the camp but in Cairo things were lively. We had a flash dinner salmon and bread & jam but in the other camps they got a fairly good dinner, there were a mob of geese round by the cooks the day before xmas but I think the sergeants got them. We were given xmas boxes but no billies but all the troops in the other camps got billies and boxes, in the boxes were were 2 packets cigarettes, 2 cigars 1 tin tobacco and some post cards, I heard that we might get billies New Year’s Day, tomorrow. I believe that one chap got a ₤10 note in his billy. I went into Cairo in the afternoon and into Heliopilis in the evening, it was lively in Cairo in the afternoon and evening I cant tell you what happened as these letters are censored now. I am going to see the Zoo tomorrow. I went to see the gardens on xmas day they are got up very nice I think they look lovely. Well I suppose you have seen it in the papers about the troops being withdrawn from the Dardanelles, a lot of them are here. I met Tom Gray the other night he has been over in the trenches for about 2 months he was only kept here for a fortnight, he looks thin on it, he said he had been crook over there with the mumps and something else. He says Les Whitfield, Ryans and all the Mitiamo and Pyramid light horse chaps are back in the Heliopilis camp with him. I am going over one day to see them. Ray Leed and the others must be here now Archie Bailey said he met Dennie Hardiman. I see by this morning’s paper they are going to make it compulsory in England and call up the single men first so I suppose they will do likewise in Australia. The light horse and some British troops are fighting on the Western Frontier Egypt. It seems they are having a very severe winter in Russia. I am on guard duty today at the detention guard the prisoners, there are 15 of them here with a barb wire fence around them, we are getting a lot of guard and picket to do here, I was on picket on Sunday night in Cairo, we have to march up and down the streets with a red & white arm band around our arm, each company get it to do, they have pickets on the trams stations and in the streets etc. I am very sorry to hear that you hurt your foot, it will be a bit awkward for awhile with all the work to do, but hope it will soon be better. You remember Downie the tall chap from N.S.W. that is with me, well he just came out of the mumps hospital after being there for five weeks and was only out 2 days and was sent back into one of the other hospitals I haven’t heard what is the matter with him yet but he has a bad cold and coughed up a cup full of blood he has had no luck since he joined up the military. Evans is still in the mumps hospital. Young Gale the married chap is alright but often says he wishes he was home, there are a lot that way, I am quite satisfied here but wish they would send us to the front somewhere, it is monotonous drilling every day. It is a lousy joint here they are crawling all over us at times especially in this guard tent where we are today. Jim Gritton that I pointed out to you in the theatre in Bendigo has been crook nearly all the time since we came here he went under an operation but they didn’t do him any good and is in there again, it is a rupture of some kind. I don’t think I have lost any weight I weighed in Cairo the other day and went 13 stone, so am not doing too bad although we were not getting enough tucker but is a bit better now but I cant tackle the curry stew they give us for breakfast. A fellow wants to be a sergeant they get good tucker. I ought to get a letter anytime now from Pearl, I have written about four to her.10 I believe Eddie enlisted again but didn’t pass.11


I hear there are a lot to be married up there soon what has come over them all. The government are getting a bit hot ‘aint they, putting the price on the wheat and buying it themselves. I am glad they are getting my pay alright. The letters from Australia are not censored I got yours the day after xmas. I don’t want any money although we are always broke before every pay one shilling a day don’t go far here and if you were to send money I might not get it because we might be going at any time but where I know not. They are holding sports here on Sunday I don’t think I will be bothered going. We had a drop of rain here on xmas eve only about 30 points they say it is the third drop of rain that has fallen here since the first Australians came. Well I have no more this time so will close hoping all are well as I am at present. Wishing George, May & family and yourself a merry and prosperous new year.


I remain your loving Bro


George.


As the sick and wounded soldiers from Gallipoli began their recovery in nearby hospitals, their mates made the adjustment to camp life after months clinging to precarious positions surrounded by unburied corpses, living with the constant fear of attack and being shelled day and night, even on the beaches at Anzac Cove. For the new recruits, the reality of war was clearly visible in the maimed and emaciated Gallipoli veterans. Although George remained keen to escape the monotony of drill and to see some action, for others such as ‘young Gale’, the initial enthusiasm with which they had enlisted had turned to regret and a longing for home.




PART TWO


1916




TWO


I WISH THEY WOULD SEND US OFF
SOMEWHERE OUT OF THIS …


MOLOGA, AUSTRALIA, JANUARY 1916


The lists of casualties from Gallipoli sent shock waves through the young Australian nation. For many, despite their unswerving loyalty to the mother country, the appeal of fighting for king and country had been undermined by the awful cost in life and limb. Many families quietly prayed that the war would end before their sons were old enough to enlist. However, the recruitment campaign continued relentlessly and the prospect of conscription was now being openly discussed by a government desperate for men. Britain, faced with a recruiting crisis, introduced conscription in late January.


It was inevitable that more sons of Sarah and Charles Marlow would go to war. The harvest was completed, Allan’s shoulder had healed, the papers and posters all demanded it, and even the Church of England voiced its support for the war. Charlie attempted to enlist a second time and was once again rejected. But this time he was referred to the local dental board, a dental service established to treat problem teeth and ensure that conditions commonly referred to under the broad banner of ‘bad teeth’ would not prevent otherwise fit and healthy Australian men from seeing active service. Allan now arrived home with the news that his medical examination had declared him fit for service. With the original physical height requirement of 5 feet 6 inches now relaxed to 5 feet 2 inches, Allan’s twin, Percy, at five feet 3 inches, also managed to scrape through on 15 February, just four weeks after Allan.


While the prospect of the twins marching off to war together was cause for celebration for many in the little community, I doubt Sarah Marlow met the announcement with any sense of joy. She may certainly have been proud of her boys, but her loyalty must have been divided and her heart heavy. However it is unlikely that the twins’ enlistment would have been openly questioned in a household characterised by a strong allegiance to England and its church. While Sarah may have found some consolation in the fact that her eldest son, Jim, had been rejected on the basis of poor eyesight, she was destined to be the proud and stoic mother of three patriotic and brave soldiers. Surely that would be enough — no-one could expect more from her and her sons.


YEITOUN CAMP, EGYPT, JANUARY


On the first day of the new year, George put pen to paper, clearly disappointed with the quality of the celebrations that marked the festive season:


Jan 1st 1916


2748


6 reinforcements 21 Batt


6 Inf Brigade AIF


Egypt


Dear Mother, Father & Brothers,


Just a few lines hoping all are well as I am at present. It is New Years Day here, they have just given us a couple of oranges and apples each. I thought we would be given a billy but no such luck we never got any in this camp for xmas and in all the other camps they did and got a good dinner too, all we got was salmon and bread and jam. I suppose you are thinking that I am in the trenches by now, we were told when we arrived in Egypt first that we would be gone in three weeks but we are still here … In my letter to Jim I was telling him there is a chap along with me that used to go to school with Alfords, the elder ones, I closed the letter up and forgot to finish his name, the name is Lousada, he asked me to ask you to ask Alfords if they remember him, he has two brothers over here, or on their way back from the trenches. They are holding sports on sunday in the Abbasive camp, some of the men are out running getting in form. I suppose they will be making it compulsory [conscription] in Australia soon as they are doing in England. Downie just came back from the mumps hospital and has gone back to another one now he had a bad cold he has got very thin since he left Australia …


While George was revelling in his new experiences in Egypt, including the pyramids and the aircraft of the fledgling Flying Corps, he remained eager to discover just where and when he would eventually enjoy his first taste of action. He wrote of his mates, particularly Downie, who had been readmitted to hospital and was gravely ill with possible tuberculosis. By now George had realised that his friend was unlikely to recover and his letter is tinged with concern. This would be the first of many new friendships that would be lost in the months to come.


Egypt Jan 18th 1916


Dear Mother, Father & Brothers


Just a few lines to let you know that I am alright and am having a good time at present. My company are all on guard at the different hospitals we have to do a week of it, each company gets it, our company was on a while back but I wasn’t on. I am on guard at the Sporting Club Hospital it is a convalescent Hospital. It is a very nice place all the paths have nice trees and hedges planted on each side of them, it looks lovely. There are a lot of soldiers here and nearly all of them are camped in huts. Lorrie Johnson is in here I met him last night while I was standing at the door of their mess hut keeping them back till the bugle went and when they were going in I spotted him he don’t look too good on it, he says he has been in the hospital nearly all the time he has been in Egypt and they don’t know what is the matter with him. It is like a home here we don’t get many hours guard a day to do, and a bonzer bed to sleep in and the tucker is first class such a change to in the camp I think we will all break out in pimples by the time we are finished here. The company that was here before us tried to get another week of it but wasn’t successful. You wouldn’t believe what a lot of traffic there is in [and] out of these hospital camps. The tram line from Heliopilis to Cairo runs right along side here, I was on guard along the tram line by the hospital last night and the trams seem to go all night long, the trams run on the same sort of line as the trains, a hospital train just went now to the Palace Hospital with wounded and sick men on it. It is nothing but the buzz of the aeroplanes just here, the Flying Corps camp is only a few chains away and the aeroplanes are going up and down all the time. You remember Downie the tall chap from N.S.W that I pointed out to you in Bendigo he is being sent back to Australia also another chap I have known well ever since we left Seymour, there are about five of my company altogether. Downie has just come out of the mumps hospital and was only out 2 days and we went on a rout march and it seem to settle him and went into the hospital that night, the doctor says he has consumption [Tuberculosis] and he looks very much like it too he has got very thin, just like a skeleton now. I am very sorry for him he was such a nice chap. I am afraid he is done for now, they were supposed to leave here today. I answered your last letter about Al having an accident. I suppose you are getting my letters and that silk I sent. I hope Allan is getting better. Ray Leed and I went out to the Pyramids last Sunday week and went right through them also climbed them this is my second trip to them, when coming back we called in at Heliopilis and met Amos Haw in there he looks real well I also met Young Erickson. These troops that just came in on the train have just arrived back from Lemnos Island they have been there in the Hospital for a long while, the red cross wagons have been flying about like the devil shifting the men into the different hospitals some came in here. I got no idea when we will be going to the front there don’t seem to be much doing at the present. Well I hope the crops have yielded well and [you] are getting a good price for the wheat. One chap here got a letter from home saying that they have stopped recruiting in Australia. I haven’t met Bert Gibson yet, Lorrie Johnson said today that he heard that he got wounded over in Tripoli. It might not be true, so don’t tell his mother, some of the light horsemen were sent over there just after I landed here. Well I have no more news this time so will close hoping all are well as I am at present, with best wishes to all.


I remain your loving son Geordie


The latest furfie we heard is that we are going to France but of course we hear such a lot of them here, don’t know whether to believe it or not. Send the address of my relations in England, might chance to get there.


Nineteen-year-old George Downie was invalided home in late January and eventually recovered from his illness.1 In 1923 he signed for the Victory Medal which was issued to all soldiers who had served. If Downie had indeed suffered from tuberculosis, he was fortunate to still be alive. These were the days before the advent of antibiotics and the effective treatment of bacterial infections. In the hospitals of Egypt, the makeshift tents on the Western Front, in the best medical facilities in England and across Europe, men were dying not only as a result of the conflict, but also from secondary bacterial infections. Weakened by their wounds, often festering in the filth of the trenches and no man’s land, exhausted from days and weeks in wet dugouts where sleep and nutritious food were equally rare, the bodies of the sick and wounded had little protection against the ravages of infection.


Just where the Australian troops were to be sent remained a topic of hot debate. George refers to ‘the latest furfie’, a term often used to describe the rumours that quickly spread throughout the camps. The troops would gather around the water carts exchanging news and gossip which rapidly became ‘the latest furphy’. The water tanks perched on the carts were boldly labelled with the manufacturer’s name: J FURPHY & SONS.


Reinforcements arrived from Australia, the Anzac troops returning from Gallipoli were reorganised, and those drilling in the dry desert sands of the Egyptian camps waited with growing impatience for their turn to strike at the foe. The reorganisation saw the two AIF divisions increased to four, the additional divisions formed by splitting the old divisions in two and making up numbers with the newly arrived reinforcements. Five Australian infantry divisions were raised in this way. British General William Birdwood commanded I Anzac Corps which comprised the 1st and 2nd Australian divisions and the New Zealand Division. The 4th and 5th Australian divisions formed II Anzac and were commanded by British General Alexander Godley. The 3rd Division, under the command of Australian General John Monash, was being raised in Australia and consisted of those troops recently enlisted. The Anzac Mounted Division comprised the Australian Light Horse regiments and New Zealanders who would remain in Egypt to provide protection against expected Turkish incursions.


On 23 January, mounted troops were deployed to fortify the Allied position east of the Suez Canal and prevent Turkish troops in Palestine crossing the Sinai Desert and entering Egyptian territory. Soon after, additional infantry divisions were sent to the canal to reinforce and relieve the mounted troops.


In Europe, the need for Anzac troops to fortify the Western Front had become urgent. On 21 February German Chief of the General Staff General Erich von Falkenhayn launched an unprecedented artillery bombardment which targeted the fortress city of Verdun in the north-eastern sector of the French front line. Verdun and its forts had guarded the eastern approach to France for centuries and formed a crumbling bastion, a traditional symbol of strength. Falkenhayn’s plan was to hit one section of the line with massive firepower, his objective to bleed ‘France to death’.2 While the determined French were staunchly holding the line, an influx of fresh fighting men was desperately needed to stem the German advance.


As rumours heralding a move to France began circulating within the camps of Egypt, George was enjoying the mild winter climate and making the most of time free from drill or duty to write home to his family and friends. At the same time, as George describes, discontent in the camps continued to grow.


Egypt Jan 21st 1916


Yeitoun Camp


Dear Charlie


… I am having a good time this week, we are on guard at the Sporting Club Hospital, it is a convalescent hospital, there are 20 of us here altogether, the rest of the company are on at the other hospitals, we have to do a week of it altogether. It is different to doing guard at the guard tents, we only do about 24 hours altogether for the week so don’t lose any sleep over it. I wouldn’t mind if they left us here until we go to the firing line. We get the same tucker as the hospital staff, it is good too, such a change from the camp tucker. Yesterday the staff complained about the dinner and brought in the orderly officer to see it, they ought to go into the camps for a day or two and would have something to taught [talk] about. All the hospitals are let by contract to the French people for supplying the food and you cant beat the French cooks. There are a lot of men in the wards some very bad cases of frost bite from the Dardanelles. Most of the returned chaps have a very poor opinion of the Tommies as fighters they have a better opinion of the turks and say they are very fair fighters. We see plenty of aeroplanes flying here they are camped just a little bit away, they came over to the hospital and gave a concert it was very good they come once a week. We are having some bonzer weather here now, it is winter time but the days are nice and sunny it is cold at night. I see by today’s paper that all the reserves in the Egyptian army are called up. Half my company have been sent down near the canal, they picked out all the worst of the companies and sent them away, things have been very lively in Cairo lately, and they reckon that is the reason they were sent away, they are not in any fighting but are drilling just the same as here, they say it is a b___ down where they are, a lot of them are sleeping out in the open, not enough tents for them all. It is rumoured here that we are going to France, it is quite possible that they will send all of us over there and leave Tommies and Indians here, of course it is too cold there yet. I see they are calling for another 50,000 more men in Australia, I suppose there aint many enlisting there now. Downie and Grittons the chap I pointed out to you in the pictures that night, are on their way back. Lorrie Johnson is here in this hospital, he says he is going back to his unit today. Well Charlie I hope the crop has yielded well and that you get a good price for the wheat. I will now close with best wishes to you all.


I remain your loving Bro


Geordie


Send the addresses of the relations in England if the others haven’t sent them, I might have a chance of getting to England.


A week later, George wrote to Charlie’s girlfriend, Pearl:


… I received five letters yesterday the first since Christmas I have been looking out for a letter from you. Charlie said you were going to write I hope you have got mine, it is a luxury to get letters here … There are a lot in the hospitals hopping about on sticks some have got some bad frost bites at the Dardanelles, they are all back from there now. Les Whitfield and all those other chaps are back here in Heliopilis they had a fairly rough time of it towards the finish. I got no idea when we will be going to the firing line. I wish they would send us off somewhere out of this it is sickening drilling day after day. There cant be many men in camp in Australia now, I see by the paper that they are wanting another 50,000 we heard here that they had stopped recruiting for a while, I suppose there werent many enlisting while the harvest was on. One of my mates is on his way back to Australia I think there are four out of my company gone back altogether and two have died here lately. General Birdwood inspected all of us last week …


FEBRUARY


Sunday, Feb 6th 1916


Dear Mother, Father and Brothers,


I received your last letter on the 29 Jan also 2 from Charlie, 1 from Auntie May and 1 from Miss Lowrie, they had been written on the 13th and 21st of December, they are the only letters I have received since the day after xmas there must be some gone astray somewhere because auntie Etta, Sharps and Allan had been writing regular. A lot of our mail had been sent down to the brigade down on the desert near the canal and it is rumoured here that they destroyed what didn’t belong there. Well I hope you have been getting mine I have been writing regular but the worst of it here we never know when the mails leave Egypt. I suppose Al’s shoulder is better again, I met a young fellow from Pyramid he didn’t tell me his name he had Pyramid written on his hat, so I spoke to him, he knew who I was straight away and was telling me about Allan getting hurt. He is in the same battalion as me but the 8th reinforcements. Jack Jamison is in the same lot as him, they are camped in tents right alongside our huts. They were telling me that Bill Hesens and one of the Hogarths are going to enlist, I think they will have to come. Frank Donaldson that used to play football with Calivil is here he is in the 7th reinforcements of the 21st Batt. I often see him. Archie is a Lance Corporal now, stripes are not much good here because as soon as we join the original Battalion they all lose their stripes. I have met a lot of chaps that were in my company at Bendigo they have just arrived here. Ray Leed has been getting the Pyramid paper sent from home when he is finished with them he gives them to me then I pass them on to Archie … about sending things over, you address them the same as the letters but I don’t think it would be wise to send any now as we might not be here much longer than a month well it is about time they shifted us out of this. I don’t think there will be any fight in the canal after all, according to the paper we get here, so I think we will be left here until the winter is over in the other fronts and that we will be either sent to France or Salonika. This is a lovely place to sport the winter it is no wonder that such a lot of people come here for the winter, the days are nice and sunny but the nights are cold, it is gradually getting hotter coming on summer again soon. I went into Heliopilis with Reg Evans last night, Dad and Charlie met him at Broad meadows, he wanted to see his sister she is a nurse, we got wet through coming home my word it did come down we have had such a lot of rain here lately, nearly all the huts leak they are not made to keep the rain out, I noticed in one of the paper[s] that they got a lot of recruits in the month of January, they are making it compulsory in England now. Well I suppose that you will all be having a spell now that the harvesting is finished. They must have had a very lively meeting over Miss Lowrie send off. My word the lucerne plots in the irrigation look lovely it seems to grow very fast, they cart a lot of it away on the camels. Every morning before breakfast our company goes for a fast walk of about four miles past the lucerne plots and will always see the niggers carting it away I think some of them work all night. They have a lot of wells put down and pump the water out with horse works but they have a bullock or cow in them and go all day and night it is fairly slow of course there is the irrigation channels too for watering they don’t seem to run much water down them in the winter time but in the summer they are always full. They don’t have the ground fenced off here only round the roads and there it is a hedge fence and the way they feed the stock is have a rope around their heads and tied on a peg or else they stand there and mind them. We got a surprise today they gave us our xmas puddings for dinner that we should have got on xmas day it was just the thing, the tucker is better now than what we used to get. Well I have not much news this time so will close hoping all are well as I at present with best wishes to all I remain your loving son and brother.
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